
Please ask for Democratic Services DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: democratic services@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
Committee - GREATER THETFORD 

DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIP
Date & Time - WEDNESDAY, 20TH MARCH, 2019 

AT 2.30 PM
Venue - CARNEGIE ROOMS, CAGE LANE, 

THETFORD, IP24 2EA

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
Wednesday, 20th March, 2019

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

2. MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING FROM THE BOARD MEETING 
HELD ON 27 NOVEMBER 2018 

1 - 9

To confirm the minutes of the meeting on 27 November 2018.

3. NETWORK IMPROVEMENT STRATEGY 10 - 12
Report of Hannah Grimes, Transport Planner, Norfolk County Council.

4. THETFORD RAILWAY STATION CAR PARKING 13 - 14
Report of Robert Campbell, Inward Investment Manager, Breckland 
Council.

5. FUTURE HIGH STREET FUNDS 15 - 31
Discussion with Rob Walker, Executive Director for Place, Breckland 
Council.

6. COMMUNITY SUB-GROUP - MEMBERSHIP 
Discussion with Rob Walker, Executive Director for Place, Breckland 
Council.

7. COMMUNITY SUB-GROUP REPORT 32 - 36
Report of Robert Whittaker, Chairman of the Community Sub-Group.

8. MARKET TOWN INITIATIVE 
Discussion with Rob Walker, Executive Director for Place, Breckland 
Council.

9. LOCAL AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES 37
Discussion with Rob Walker, Executive Director for Place, Breckland 
Council.

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

11. SUMMARY OF AGREED ACTIONS AND REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 

12. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
To confirm the arrangements for the next meeting scheduled on 
Thursday 6 June at 2.00pm in Kings House, King Street, Thetford, IP24 
2AP.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GREATER THETFORD DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIP

Held on Tuesday, 27 November 2018 at 2.00 pm in
Thetford Town Council, King Street, Thetford, Norfolk, IP24 2AP

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr R. King
Mr I. Andrew
Mr A. M.  Poulter

Mr S. Holmes-Smith
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Cllr Wilby

Also Present
Robert Whittaker Chairman of the Community Sub-Group
Kay Boyden  Sustainability and Transformation Partnership Estates (STP) 

Project Manager (Norfolk Community Health Care Trust)
Phil Shreeve  Public Health (Norfolk County Council (NCC)) 
Cal Deane  North Norfolk and South Norfolk Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) (NHS Primary Care Trust).

In Attendance
Robert Campbell - Inward Investment Manager
Richard Doleman - Infrastructure Development (NCC)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

39/18 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES 

Apologies had been received from Councillors Jermy and James.

Members were welcomed to the meeting and were informed that a 
vacancy remained outstanding from Thetford Town Council.

40/18 FUTURE OF HEALTHCARE IN GREATER THETFORD 

The Chairman welcomed Kay Boyden, Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership Estates (STP) Project Manager 
(Norfolk Community Health Care Trust); Phil Shreeve, Public 
Health (Norfolk County Council (NCC)) and Cal Dean North 
Norfolk and South Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
(NHS Primary Care Trust).

A presentation was given to Members on how the Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership was bringing together health partners 
across Norfolk and Waveney to investigate ways of working in 
partnership, to deliver better health outcomes for patients.

Public Document Pack

1

Agenda Item 2



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

2

Action By

Members heard that the X-ray service at the Healthy Living Centre 
had resumed as well as minor surgery, midwifery services and 
diagnostics also available at the Centre.

Public Health was a Norfolk County Council function who were 
focussing on how the wider environmental issues (including 
housing, wage levels etc.) impacted on individuals health and how 
improvements could be made.  Specifically work was underway to 
move towards a single point of contact – just one number; more 
details would follow. 

The Breckland Health Alliance consisted of integrated and multi-
disciplinary teams who worked together to improve service 
delivery and the quality of care and experience of local health 
services across the District.  

Members raised concern there would not be the adequate access 
to health services due to the growth expected in Thetford.  
Members were reassured there was a requirement to consider all 
establishments within the Thetford area to maximise the space 
and availability practices can offer.

Members heard how General Practices set their boundaries which 
included the new development areas.  There was a recognition 
there was a shortage of GPs however to deal with the population 
growth the CCG were working closely with the Breckland Alliance 
to look at how to manage the recruitment and retention of GPs.  
There were no set statutory numbers of health practitioners by 
population in their practice area, however the Commissioners 
were doing their best to ensure current practices shared resources 
collaboratively to meet the future demand.  The CCG recognised 
the future challenges, but were working towards how they could 
utilise the community care teams and clinical pharmacists to 
support the service delivery.

Mr Whittaker asked if the GP Practices were under obligation to 
expand under the terms of their contract.  It was explained that 
whilst there may be a shortage of space, many GPs owned their 
own practices, and used their own finances for a new build or 
adding an extension to the existing estate.  Many practices were 
now asking the STP estates for capital support for redevelopment 
however the funding pot was limited.  As funding was limited, 
alternative solutions needed to be considered, such as looking at 
how maximise the use of the Thetford Healthy Living Centre.  
Grove Surgery had submitted an application for an extension to 
their existing premises which was underway and had been future 
proofed.  School Lane had re-configured their premises at their 
own expense but had not submitted an application for an 
extension as yet.  Work was underway to look at the Healthy 
Living Centre to ensure it was being used to its maximum benefit.  
The issue of parking at the centre had been highlighted.

The Chairman was aware of the challenges of integrating 

2



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

3

Action By

communities in and around Thetford and asked Public Health how 
they planned to integrate future growth.  Mr Shreeve said he 
wanted to be an advocate for physical access and reduce the 
potential barriers to enable people to make the right choices.  The 
Chairman asked if the Landowner had engaged with Public Health 
to consider how to overcome future health issues.  Whilst Norfolk 
County Council were a statutory consultee consideration was 
being given as to how to access and influence the planners to 
discuss the wider health issues.  Public Health were in the process 
of finalising the revision for Health and Planning Protocol which 
suggested early engagement of all facilities.

The Chairman asked what was NHS England or the CCG doing to 
educate the public about alternative options available, rather than 
the need to see a GP.  Members heard that Norfolk and Waveney 
were operating a sign-posting service which was led by the 
receptionist to decide which practitioner to see.  The CCG would 
like to work with County and District Councils on educating the 
residents.

The Chairman asked if the elected representatives at three-tiers 
could be communicated better to be aware of the challenges and 
programmes of delivery could be cascaded to the appropriate 
levels.  There were monthly newsletters that members could 
receive which would provide updates.

RW said he was a Breckland Council representative on the local 
group for the CCG and would think about how he could bring 
information from the group to elected Members.

The Chairman thanked the STP, Public Health and CCG for 
providing a comprehensive update at the meeting.  

Ms Boyden said she would send Members the appropriate link to 
receive future newsletters (this has been actioned).  RW added 
that the information would also be useful when the ward profiles 
were created in readiness for the next election.  

41/18 GOVERNANCE 

 (a) New Chairman Appointment  

The Chairman outlined that as set out in the Terms of 
Reference, he was required to stand down after a twelve-month 
period.  He thanked officers and colleagues for the progress 
made over the last 12-months.

Cllr Brame proposed that Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen be 
nominated as Chairman of the Board for the ensuing year.  This 
was seconded by Cllr King.

AGREED that Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen be appointed as 
Chairman of the Greater Thetford Development Partnership 
Board for the ensuing year.

3



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

4

Action By

 (b) Communities Sub Group - recruitment of independent 
members  

Members heard that an Independent Member of the Community 
Sub-Group had sadly passed away and passed on their 
condolences to the family. 

Two applications had been received for the Independent 
Member vacancies within the Community Sub-Group, and 
interviews would be carried out early in the New Year.  All 
existing Independent Members of the Sub-Group would be 
required to step down but could be co-opted if required.

It was AGREED that the following Members would sit on the 
Interview Panel:

 Chairman of the Greater Thetford Development 
Partnership Board,

 1 x Representative from Brettenham & Kilverstone Parish 
Council

 1 x Representative from Croxton Parish Council
 1 x Representative from Thetford Town Council

42/18 BRIEF REPORT UPDATES 

 (a) Expansion of parking at Thetford Station  

The Board heard that an initial informal discussion had taken 
place with Greater Anglia to establish if they would be supportive 
of enlarging the car parking at Thetford Station.  Officers had 
identified two potential pieces of allotment land with road access 
but a full survey would be required to establish if it would be 
practical.  Further discussions would be required on who would 
manage the car parking in the future.  
Greater Anglia would not purchase land for car parking.  The 
freehold for car parking land was normally held by Network Rail 
and leased to Greater Anglia who would build and manage (via 
NCP) the additional parking.

Officers were also asked to consider other avenues for the 
construction and management additional of the car parking at 
Thetford Station, rather than via Greater Anglia.

It was AGREED that the Board approved further work to 
establish whether expansion of the car parking at Thetford 
Railway Station was likely to be feasible to achieve; and officers 
to consider alternative avenues for the construction and 
management of additional car parking.

 (b) Ely Railway Junction improvements  

Technical work on developing a Strategic Outline Business Case 
which would assess how to address issues and identify 
preferred road and rail options which would be available late 

4



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

5

Action By

Spring 2019.

Cllr Wilby informed Members there was a lot of work to do in 
regard to the Ely Rail Junction; however the Ely by-pass had just 
opened which had relieved the pressure within the Town. 

 (c) Thetford Kingsfleet (SUE)  

Work had commenced on the first phase of the Thetford 
Kingsfleet (SUE) housing development with the first 343 homes 
started on site.  Officers were continuing to work with Homes 
England to finalise grant funding which will assist with a major 
utilities upgrade in north Thetford, required to support further 
phases of this housing development.

 (d) Thetford Enterprise Park  

Access to the Thetford Enterprise Park via the new roundabout 
was on schedule to be completed towards the end of 2018.  This 
would contribute to securing first developments on the key 
employment site.  Subject to securing final approval, a £150,000 
allocation of public monies would be made available to progress 
sufficient utilities to the Thetford Enterprise Park site to enable a 
first development to get underway.

The Chairman thanked Mr Wilby and Norfolk County Council for 
investing in Thetford.

 (e) Social Housing (Flagship)  

Members heard that discussions were taking place between 
Breckland Council and Flagship to look at how improvements 
could be made within estates of Thetford to create a better 
environment.  

As soon as practicable, Residents Associations would be 
engaged within the discussions.

 (f) Network Improvement Strategy (roads)  

Norfolk County Council were carrying out a series of Market 
Town Studies – termed Network Improvement Strategies – to 
identify the most effective transport improvements to support 
future planned growth, address transport issues, enhancements 
to safety and access to public transport and support the local 
economy.  The following technical work had been commissioned 
to specifically look at:

 Cycle & walking corridor identification and options
 Network pinch point assessment
 Key junction testing,

Work was in progress and would be circulated to key 
stakeholders before it was finalised, early next year.

Cllr King asked that the ‘rat runs’ caused by the A11 be taken 

5



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

6

Action By

into consideration.  RD would reiterate the Boards concerns.

Cllr Poulter asked if there had been an update on the A14/M11 
junction.  He was informed that meetings had been undertaken 
with Highways England although more lobbying of the 
Government would be required.

Mr Whittaker asked what was meant by ‘key junctions’.  It was 
confirmed the key junctions related to those within the Town as 
those on the A11 are beyond the scope of the work being 
undertaken. 

 (g) Market Town Initiative  

Key projects were highlighted that formed part of the Market 
Town Initiative.  

Work was about to commence to enhance the environment 
surrounding Button Island to make it more inviting.  
Breckland Council had agreed to fund further events on the 
Green for an additional 12-month period.  
The ShopAppy digital platform was working well across both 
Attleborough and Swaffham, and some work was underway to 
bring retail outlets within Thetford up to that of a similar level as 
other Market Towns across the District.  
A new virtual reality 3-D experience App was being developed 
that would promote key attractions across the District.
Thetford Town Council and Breckland Council were working 
together to ensure that the investments made within the town 
were getting the best value for money.  In particular, discussions 
were on how to revitalise the Town Centre to become a place for 
the community to congregate and provide social engagement.

43/18 VISION SETTING/ENGAGEMENT EVENT 

A vision setting meeting was due to be held in the Autumn of 
2018, however after hearing that a similar event was going to be 
held by the Cambridge-Norwich Tech Corridor project, a decision 
was taken to pause the Thetford event in case a joint event was 
justified. 

Discussions with CNTC would take place to clarify the best way 
forward.

ACTION – RC to arrange a joint meeting between CNTC and 
GTDP.

44/18 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Mr Whittaker raised a number of queries highlighted below.

He queried if the surface of the path to Phase 1a of the new 
development would be suitable for mobility aids as well as around 
the remainder of the Town.  RW and Cllr Brame were already 

6



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

7

Action By

looking into this.

Would the buses planned as part of the new development (as had 
been outlined in the Planning Policy of the Thetford Area Action 
Plan) be available at the outset or not until further housing phases 
had been constructed.  RW said there could often be a disparity 
between planning policy and what was implemented, but would 
investigate and respond to the question.

He had queried a number of times with Capita regarding the use 
of the underpass at Joe Blunts Lane and the travel plan for regular 
bus services to use the underpass but had not received a 
response.  RW asked for copies of the emails to seek a response.

He asked if there had been an update in ticket pricing from East 
Midlands Trains.  He was informed that Breckland had not 
received a response from their second correspondence and would 
chase a response. 

A member of the public carried out a ‘report it’ function on the 
Norfolk County Council’s website.  Whilst a response had been 
received to say the query would be categorised, he did not receive 
a further response to say it would be classed as a minor request 
and therefore would take longer to respond.  Councillor Brame 
would feed the item back to Norfolk County.

It was asked if there had been spare monies following 
development of the TEP roundabout, if it would be better to use 
the business rates money for the roundabout allowing the Local 
Enterprise Partnership monies to be better spent.  He was advised 
that monies that had not been spent would be returned to the 
larger pot to enable the Council to bid for further projects.  It was a 
county-wide agenda, and therefore a shared funding pot. 

 (a) Croxton Road Cycle link - Norfolk County Council  

RD explained that under the Network Improvement Strategy a 
proposal had been made to continue the cycle-way from the 
Army Cadet Head Quarters on Croxton Road to the Academy.  
He asked if Members would support the idea so preliminary 
work could be undertaken.

Members asked if it would link with the existing Cycle 13 route 
which led to Croxton.  It was felt it should be linked up, however 
part of Croxton Road narrowed and speeds of vehicles could be 
immense.

The Chairman asked if Members were in agreement.  Croxton 
Parish Council were supportive and Councillor Brame said on 
that behalf of the Academy they would be supportive as it was 
becoming increasingly dangerous around the Academy area.

Mr Whittaker said he was supportive of the idea and it was vital 
that if there was only enough budget to partially implement for it 

7



Greater Thetford Development Partnership
27 November 2018

8

Action By

to be from Thetford Road to the School.  He raised concern at 
how it would be joined to the road (from a road safety view 
point).  RD said it would be the role of the Highways Engineers 
to design safe and effective improvements.

Members AGREED for Officers to proceed with investigating the 
proposal of a cycle way between the Army Cadet Head Quarters 
on Croxton Road to the Academy.

45/18 SUMMARY OF AGREED ACTIONS AND REPORT 
HIGHLIGHTS 

The summary of actions and report highlights had been captured 
on the attached document.

46/18 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The dates for the next meeting would be agreed and circulated to 
Members.

The meeting closed at 4.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

8



Highlights of the board meeting held on 27 November 2018

Healthcare in Greater Thetford
Members heard how the Sustainable Transformation Partnership is bringing together health partners 
across Norfolk and Waveney to investigate ways of working in partnership, to deliver better health 
outcomes for patients.
The Thetford Healthy Living Centre once again has an x-ray facility, and has capability to carry out minor 
surgery.
Public Health is looking at how the wider environmental issues (including housing, wage levels etc.) impact 
on individuals health and how improvements could be made.

Governance
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen was re-appointed as Chairman of the GTDP Board for the ensuing year.

The Board agreed that the Chairman of the Board and a representative from each of the Parish Councils 
(Brettenham & Kilverstone, Croxton and Thetford Town Council) would be on the interview panel for the 
recruitment of Independent Members.

Report Updates
Discussions are underway between Thetford Town Council and Breckland Council with regards to the 
expansion of space for parking at Thetford Railway Station.

Members were pleased to hear the Ely Southern Bypass has now opened, and that further work was 
underway to develop a business case for improvements at the Ely Railway junction.

Work has commenced on the first phase of the Thetford Kingsfleet (SUE) housing development with the 
first 343 homes started on site.  Officers are continuing to work with Homes England to finalise grant 
funding which will assist with a major utilities upgrade in north Thetford, required to support further 
phases of this housing development.

The Thetford Enterprise Park Access Roundabout is on schedule to be completed towards the end of 2018.  
This will contribute to securing first developments on this key employment site.

Work is continuing on the Thetford Transport Network Improvement Strategy which will include cycle and 
walking corridor identification and options; pinch-point assessment and Key junction testing.

Market Town Initiative
Members heard of the variety of key projects that were on-going throughout the town including the 
funding agreement for ‘Events on the Green’ for a further 12 months, and the launch of a 3-D virtual App 
across the District.

9

Minute Item 45

9



Greater Thetford Development Partnership Board 
 XX March 2019 

Item No xx                
 

Thetford Network Improvement Strategy 
Hannah Grimes, Transport Planner, Norfolk County Council 

 
 

Summary 
Norfolk County Council is carrying out a series of market town studies – termed 
Network Improvement Strategies – to identify the most effective transport 
improvements to support future planned growth, help address transport issues such as 
congestion, enhancements to safety and access to public transport, and support the 
local economy.  
 
A presentation was given to the Board in February outlining the work. Following the 
Board an external workshop was held with stakeholders to ask what they feel are the 
current transport issues in Thetford and indicate what they felt were priorities. The key 
issues were identified, and Norfolk County Council’s consultants were commissioned. 
The reports are still being finalised but will then be used to feed into the Strategy.  
 
Recommendations  
 

(i) The Board is asked to note progress. 

  

1. Introduction 

 Many of Norfolk’s market towns and larger villages have a considerable 
amount of planned housing and employment growth identified through the 
relevant Local Plans. Addressing the transport pressures this growth will bring 
is vital to facilitate the economic prosperity of these towns and villages and as 
such planning this ahead of growth allows the county council to respond 
accordingly. 
The suite of market town transport studies will identify the most effective 
transport improvements to support future planned growth and help address 
transport issues such as congestion, enhancements to safety and access to 
public transport.  It is intended that the studies will support the economy of the 
area by helping to prioritise proposed schemes, assist with growth assumptions 
and influence potential funding opportunities in the future and ultimately 
facilitate planned housing and employment growth in these towns and villages 
Norfolk County Council’s Environment, Development and Transport committee 
(EDT) in September 2017 agreed that Thetford would be one of the first towns 
to be studied. 

2. Work programme 

 Work on the studies started with an assimilation of evidence about the known, 
existing problems and issues, followed by an external workshop to discuss 
stakeholders’ concerns and priorities, and what existing work is already being 
undertaken. 
The areas identified from the evidence-gathering and stakeholder engagement 
included congestion, connectivity to the main urban extensions in the north of 
the town, cycling, and a number of detailed traffic issues. The further technical 

10

Agenda Item 3



work has looked at congestion and connectivity to the 5,000 new dwellings 
planned for Thetford, cycling and walking and traffic issues in the south of the 
town including Nuns’ Bridges Road; a narrow route used by a number of large 
vehicles which sometimes get stuck causing congestion.  
The Walking and Cycling report looked at the routes below and suggested 
some improvements with some high-level route costs along the three routes 
below. 

• Route A: London Road, from commercial area at the west of the town to 
the town centre  

• Route B: Croxton Road, connecting the Thetford Urban Extension 
(west), existing residential areas, the Thetford Academy and town centre  

• Route C: Kilverstone, connecting the Thetford Urban Extension (east), 
Kilverstone, other residential areas and the town centre.  

The technical work on congestion and connectivity has found that several 
junctions are currently at, or close to, capacity, or will be in the future given the 
growth in and around the town. These include A134 Brandon Road / London 
Road / A134 Bury Road (currently operating over capacity) and A1075 / 
Norwich Road / A1066 Mundford Road / A1066 Hurth Way Junction 
(overcapacity in peak period in 2036, but phase 1 of the Thetford housing is 
expected to deliver improvements). 
  
The study also considered issues raised about traffic on Nuns’ Bridges Road 
and found that future traffic growth is likely to cause lengthy queues and delays 
on this route. The study noted that that there is a key desire line for traffic from 
the north of the town, essentially between the A1088 and A134. Further work is 
being put underway to consider the study findings and potential mitigation 
measures. 
 
An update went to Norfolk County Council’s EDT committee on Friday 8th 
March. 
A draft of the Strategy will be circulated to stakeholders and the Greater 
Thetford Partnership Board before the study is finalised and reported back to 
Cabinet for adoption. For Thetford, this is anticipated to be spring 2019. 

3. Contribution to Board Objectives 

 The activity will contribute to Objective 1 to improve infrastructure and 
Objective 6 to encourage economic vitality. 

4. Recommendations  
(i)  The Board is asked to note progress. 

 
 

Officer Contact 

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper please get in touch 
with: 
 
Name  Telephone Number Email address 

Hannah Grimes 01603 223186 hannah.grimes@norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Appendices 
11



 
 
Background Documents 

 
Report to Norfolk County Council Environment Development and Transport Committee 17 
March 2017 
Report to Norfolk County Council Environment Development and Transport Committee 15 
September 2017 
Report to Norfolk County Council Environment Development and Transport Committee 8 March 
2019 

12



Greater Thetford Development Partnership Board 
March 2019 
Item No xx 

 
Thetford Railway Station Car Parking 

Report of Robert Campbell 
 
 
 
Summary 
 
Discussions have taken place with Greater Anglia to establish the feasibility of 
expanding car parking provision at Thetford Railway Station.  
 
Recommendations 
 
(i)   That the board seeks funding to support the preparation of a business case for 

the development of additional station car parking on some of the land currently 
allocated to allotments. 

 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 
Thetford Station currently has parking for 35 cars, including 2 disabled bays.  The 
parking is managed by NCP on behalf of Greater Anglia Trains and is available to users 
on a chargeable basis. 
 
Additional parking is provided for taxis and there is one 20 minute short stay slot 
designed for drop off and pick up. 
  
 
2. Previous discussions 
 
The board has previously discussed the possibility of providing additional parking by 
utilising some of the existing allotment space on the other side of the tracks from the 
current parking.  The idea was based on Thetford Town Council releasing some of the 
allotment land providing that a similar sized plot be made available for allotment use 
from either District or County land ownership. 
 
The need for additional parking is based on likely increased demand from residents of 
the new Kingsfleet housing development which has now started construction of the first 
phase. 
 
3. Discussions with Greater Anglia 
 
Formal discussions have taken place with Greater Anglia to establish whether they 
would be supportive of enlarging car parking at Thetford Station.  The discussions 
confirmed the following:- 
 
 

13

Agenda Item 4



- Whilst Greater Anglia is supportive of the idea to increase car parking at Thetford 
Station, they could not finance the scheme during the current franchise period (to 
2025) even if the public sector donated the land. 

 
- The only option, involving Greater Anglia during this franchise period, would be 

for the public sector to fund Greater Anglia to undertake the scheme. 
 
 
4. Other options 
 
An alternative option would be for one of the three tiers of Council (or a partnership) to 
undertake the construction and management of the car park on a commercial basis. 
 
5. Amount of allotment land which would be required 
 
The allotment site currently has around 100 plots. 
 
As a rough initial estimate, provision of an additional 50 car parking spaces is likely to 
require no more than 10% of the current plots. 
 
6. Next steps 
 
Suggested next steps are:- 
 
Establish whether there are alternative potential sites in public ownership to replace the 
allotment space which would be reallocated to car parking. 
 
If a land swap looks to be feasible, seek funding from within the GTDP partnership to 
prepare a fully costed business plan for a public sector funded and run project. 
 
7. Contribution to Board Objectives 
 
To revitalise Thetford town centre and improve connectivity with public and other forms 
of transport. 
 
8. Recommendations 
 
(i)  That the board seeks funding to support the preparation of a business case for the 
development of additional station car parking on some of the land currently allocated to 
allotments. 

Officer Contact 
 
If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper please get in touch with: 
 
Name   Telephone Number Email Address 
 
Robert Campbell 01362 656808  robert.campbell@breckland.gov.uk  
 

14



December 2018 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

Future High Streets Fund 

Call for proposals 

15

Agenda Item 5



© Crown copyright, 2018 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

December 2018 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5400-5

16

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


3 

Contents 
Foreword 4 

Introduction 5 

Background: structural changes on high streets 7 

Scope of the fund 9 

Objectives 9 

How the Fund will work 9 

Funding decisions 10 

Eligibility 12 

Eligible places 12 

Local and stakeholder support 12 

Type and size of projects 12 

Assessment proces 14 

Phase 1: shortlisting places 14 

Phase 2: Business case development 15 

Application process 16 

Application form 16 

Submission of bids 16 

Enquiries 16 

Transparency and privacy 16 

17



4 

Foreword 
For centuries, our high streets have been where commerce and community meet. They 
have been the hubs of enterprise, where small businesses grow and local jobs are 
created, and they are the barometers of our prosperity and the heartbeats of the places we 
call home. 

Today, as consumer patterns change and spending increasingly moves online, our 
expectations of high streets are changing too. A renewed emphasis on 'experience' brings 
convenience, valuable services and a powerful sense of the community to the fore – that 
intrinsic desire for something that cannot be replicated online. Where this has been 
achieved successfully, it can transform a community. It’s something we’ve seen 
showcased brilliantly at our Great British High Street Awards. 

This government is committed to helping more high streets adapt and meet these 
changing expectations; not just to survive, but to thrive. This is why we launched Our Plan 
for the High Street in autumn with a fund of £675m. Our Plan for the High Street includes a 
cut in business rates by up to a third for a wide range of retail properties for two years, a 
consultation on planning reform to make it simpler to create more homes, jobs and choice 
in our town centres, and the creation of a High Streets Task Force. 

The Future High Streets Fund is an essential part of Our Plan for the High Street, 
providing co-funding towards capital projects that bring transformative change. We want to 
see the regeneration of our town centres through innovative proposals around transport, 
housing delivery and our public services. 

Because no two high streets are the same, we are looking to work with visionary local 
leaders who understand what their local communities will need in the years to come. I’m 
looking forward to reading your Expressions of Interest and seeing your positive visions for 
our future high streets – places that can flourish for years to come. 

The Rt Hon James Brokenshire 
MP, Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
 

Jake Berry MP, Minister for the Northern 
Powerhouse and Local Growth 

18



5 

Introduction 
High streets and town centres lie at the heart of our communities and local economies, 
creating jobs, nurturing small businesses and injecting billions of pounds into our 
economy. But the way we shop and the way that communities use their high streets and 
town centres is changing: we are shopping more online, making fewer big shopping trips 
and shopping ‘little and more often’. This changes the nature of what makes a high street 
successful. 

The government is committed to helping local high streets evolve and adapt to these 
changes. We want to see thriving places created where the community feels engaged, and 
vibrant town centres where people live, shop, use services, and spend their leisure time.  

At the Budget, we set out Our Plan for the High Street, including: 

• cutting business rates by a third for up to 90% of retail properties for two years, to
provide upfront support for high streets;

• supporting the transformation of the high street, by creating a £675 million Future
High Streets Fund to help local areas make their high streets and town centres fit
for the future;

• consulting on planning reform to make it simpler to create more homes, jobs and
choice in town centres, and trialling a register of empty shops;

• setting up a High Streets Task Force which will support local leadership with expert
advice on helping local high streets to adapt and thrive; and

• strengthening community assets, including the restoration of the historic buildings
that make our high streets special, supporting community groups to use empty
properties and providing business rates relief for public toilets and local
newspapers.

The Future High Streets Fund forms a central part of this Plan. It will support places by co-
funding transformative, structural changes to overcome challenges in their area. And it will 
support wider economic growth within local areas, delivering investment and growth 
across regions in England to deliver our modern Industrial Strategy.  

This document sets out how the Fund will operate as a two-round fund with two stages to 
the application process. This first stage of the application process, Phase 1, calls for 
places to come forward with Expressions of Interest by 22 March 2019 setting out their 
challenges and strategic approach to regenerating town centres. We will assess these 
Expressions of Interest against criteria set out within this document and make an 
announcement on which places will move forward to Phase 2, development of full 
business cases.  

During this second phase, shortlisted places will receive some revenue funding to support 
the development of their high street strategies which shall include specific project plans 
and associated business cases setting out how they shall regenerate these places. These 
business cases will be assessed in accordance with departmental and HM Treasury Green 
Book appraisal methodologies and criteria to be published in due course. 

£55m of the Fund has been allocated to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport to support the regeneration of heritage high streets. This has two elements: helping 

19



6 

to restore historic high street properties through Historic England, and equipping 
communities with their own resources to put historic buildings back into economic use – for 
example as residential buildings, new work spaces or cultural venues, supported by the 
Architectural Heritage Fund. Further detail will be announced in due course. 

  

20



7 

Background: structural changes on high 
streets 
Change on high streets is not a new phenomenon. Shop numbers have been steadily 
declining since at least the 1920s and over many years the ways in which people interact 
with their high streets and town centres have constantly evolved. Technological advances, 
new products, competition and changing consumer preferences have seen many high 
street retailers and industries rise to prominence or disappear. The rise in out-of-town 
shopping, for example, had a significant impact on the way that people engaged with high 
streets, in the same way that rising car ownership has transformed town centres.1 
 
In the past, high streets have shown themselves to be resilient to change, constantly 
needing to adapt to meet changing demands. They have continued to play a key role at 
the heart of many communities. 
 
However, the speed of these changes has increased dramatically in recent decades. The 
unprecedented growth of online shopping in particular has had a big effect on high streets. 
Between 2007 and 2018 online sales increased six-fold while the growth of in-store sales 
lagged behind. In 2000 online retailing accounted for less than 1% of total retail sales while 
in October 2018 almost a fifth of all retail sales took place online.2 
 
Technological advances, including the fast growth in personal computer use, smartphone 
use and improvements to broadband have facilitated this rapid rise in online retailing. We 
are starting to see online retailing replacing traditional "bricks-and-mortar" retailing seen on 
the high street as retailers are often able to offer competitive prices, more choice and 
greater convenience by moving their business online. 
 
This has left a number of vacant or under-used spaces in town centres, with a proportion 
of the existing stock of retail stores on high streets becoming under-used. There is 
currently a mismatch between the supply of existing space and the demand for different 
types of space in town centres.3 
 
The speed of this change has meant that high streets and local areas have not had 
sufficient time to adapt to meet these challenges. While there are examples of successful 
regeneration of town centres, many places across the country are struggling to transform 
in response to these structural changes. 
 
Evidence shows that high streets with a wide choice of retail services alongside well-
designed and planned residential and office space are more resilient to these changes and 
are adapting more successfully. In contrast, high streets that rely heavily on traditional 
retail without sufficient office space and housing surrounding the high street have found it 
harder to adapt to these changes and tend to be the ones that are struggling.4,5  

                                            
 
1 Centre for Retail Research (2013), Retail Futures 2018: Shop Numbers, Online and The High Street 
2 Office for National Statistics (2018), Retail Sales, Great Britain: October 2018 
3 British Property Federation (2016), Town Centre Investment Zones: Getting Investment Back Into the High 
Street 
4 Public Health England (2018), Healthy High Streets 
5 British Property Federation (2016), Town Centre Investment Zones: Getting investment back into the high 
street 
 

21



8 

People want local high streets to provide convenience, a sense of community and to add 
value through services not offered online. High streets can and should continue to play an 
important role in the life of communities – they are the locus for some of the highest levels 
of social interaction in places and can be important drivers of growth in local economies.6  

Experience has shown that local areas need support, investment and guidance to help 
them meet these structural changes. To date many places have not been able to keep up 
with the speed of change to the detriment of town centres. We know that a scattergun 
approach of light touch interventions is not the solution for town centres facing large 
structural issues. Instead effective strategic thinking and masterplanning is needed, with 
local areas able to work across public and private sector organisations including local 
businesses, driven by strong local leadership. 

6 Parker, C., N. Ntounis, S. Quinn and S. Millington (2017), Identifying factors that influence vitality and 
viability 

22



9 

Scope of the fund 

Objectives 
Given the above challenges, the objective of the Fund is to renew and reshape town 
centres and high streets in a way that improves experience, drives growth and 
ensures future sustainability.  

In this first phase of the programme we want local authorities to define the specific 
challenges faced by their high streets, to set out their overarching strategic ambition for 
what the high street or town centre should become and what needs to be done to make 
this possible.  

We would expect any identified need for investment to fall under the following themes: 

• Investment in physical infrastructure
• Acquisition and assembly of land including to support new housing, workspaces and

public realm
• Improvements to transport access, traffic flow and circulation in the area
• Supporting change of use including (where appropriate) housing delivery and

densification
• Supporting adaptation of the high street in response to changing technology

How the Fund will work 

There will be two rounds of the Future High Streets Fund; we will therefore open 
applications to the Fund twice. The first-round application phase will open with the 
publication of this prospectus and aims to co-fund projects and places that have already 
started to formulate a vision for the future of their town centres. We will confirm the date of 
the second round and publish assessment criteria in due course, but it will not open before 
2020. 

The Fund will operate via a full competition over two phases, with the first acting as a light-
touch process in order to reduce the burden on places and minimise wasted resource. 
This prospectus acts as the launch of Phase 1 and invites places to come forward with 
Expressions of Interest setting out their challenges and strategic approach.  

As the first phase concerns identifying places to work with, we will not have regard to 
specific schemes included in submitted proposals when assessing bids.  

• There will be two rounds of the Fund, both with a two-phase application process
• Phase 1 of application process: this is an Expression of Interest stage where we will

assess places on the need for funding, nature of the challenge and the vision for
the future of the town centre

• Phase 2 of application process: for those who pass to Phase 2, there will be an
amount of revenue funding available to work up project proposals. Funding
decisions will be based on project plans and business cases

• In the first round of the Fund, projects which are ‘shovel ready’ may be fast-tracked
for funding

• We will make an announcement on the second round of the Fund in due course

23



10 

We will assess these Expressions of Interest against criteria set out within this document 
and the application form. We expect to be able to make an announcement in summer 
2019 on which places will move forward to Phase 2, where they will develop full business 
cases. 

During Phase 2 shortlisted places will receive some revenue funding from government to 
support the development of their high street strategies and the business cases for their 
proposed projects. The High Streets Task Force, once established, will provide support to 
places in developing their cases. Places will also receive some support from within the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

We expect the full business case development phase to take 6 to 12 months, with some 
places taking less time and receiving decisions on capital funding at an earlier stage. At 
the end of each places’ business case development phase we expect them to submit 
specific project plans and associated business cases which will be assessed against 
departmental and HM Treasury Green Book appraisal methodologies. We will then make 
decisions on which places will receive capital funding and any further revenue funding as 
well as the level of this funding.  

• December 2018: Phase 1 opens and Expressions of Interest invited

• 22 March 2019: deadline for Expressions of Interest

• Summer 2019: announcement on places moving to Phase 2

• Late 2019: first round of final business cases to be submitted

• Spring 2020: all remaining final business cases to be submitted

• Not before 2020: Second round of applications opens

Funding decisions 
Phase 1 

Places shortlisted to move forward to Phase 2 will be granted some revenue funding in 
2019/20 to support the development of their project plans and associated business cases. 

We expect places to give in their Expressions of Interest an indication of the level of 
revenue funding they would need to deliver this; however, places are not guaranteed the 
full amount they propose as the amount of revenue funding is limited.  

Phase 2 

There is no guarantee of further investment funding to shortlisted places if the 
proposals put forward at the end of Phase 2 are not sufficiently developed or fail to 
demonstrate adequate value for money or deliverability. From the outset, places should 
consider how schemes could be flexed to reflect the options available and consider the 
best intervention to make a significant and transformative difference within their areas. 

Final decisions on the amount of capital funding (and any further revenue funding needed 
to support the delivery of this) for a shortlisted place will be made considering the quality of 
the proposals put forward at the end of Phase 2. When we make individual capital funding 
awards following the submission of business cases, we will announce the full funding 
amount for the scheme. We will also give an annual profile, which will need to be spent in 
the year allocated. 

24



11 

Given the scale of investment proposed, any bids taken through to Phase 2 and shortlisted 
for capital funding will need to produce fully worked up business cases. We expect 
projects to be co-funded by public and private sector additions and this will be taken into 
consideration as part of the assessment of projects. We will expect an element of co-
funding, either on a project basis or to delivery a local area’s wider strategy for the high 
street.  This co-funding could either be public (e.g. from local areas’ own budgets) or 
private finance (e.g. co-financing housing infrastructure). 

The Fund will contribute up to a maximum of £25 million to each successful place. 
However, we expect to see a range of project sizes coming forward, many of which are in 
the region of £5-10 million per town centre. As such we do not expect to allocate that full 
amount to each area. When making funding decisions, we will consider the funding 
available in each financial year.  

The size of agreed funding packages, once approved, will be fixed. Should cost increases 
occur the Department will not provide additional funding, and this will need to be 
accounted for within local budgets or from private investment. 

25



12 

Eligibility 

Eligible places 

Given their control over the strategic levers that will be necessary to bring forward the 
types of projects that will meet the objectives of the Fund, we recognise that local 
authorities are best-placed to bid for the funding and develop and deliver proposals.  

We therefore invite bids from unitary authorities, metropolitan districts, London boroughs 
and, where there is a two-tier system, from district councils, in England.  

We will not accept bids covering town centre areas that are not facing significant 
challenges. We expect places to come forward with proposals that cover high streets or 
town centres as defined as areas that exhibit high levels of social and economic activity, 
that contain a variety of uses and functions and that act as important service centres for 
extensive catchment populations. 

Small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance are not regarded as high 
streets or town centres for purposes of this fund. Additionally, the Fund is not directed at 
central business districts of major city centres. Proposals that cover entire city regions, 
rather than a single high street or town centre, will not be eligible for funding. 

Local and stakeholder support 

While we feel local authorities are best-placed to bid for funding, projects will likely be 
stronger and more successful if they tie into a broader economic market. We would like to 
see places link to the delivery of emerging Local Industrial Strategies and any wider 
strategic vision for the area at various levels. 

We therefore would expect to see Expressions of Interest come forward with proof of 
engagement with, and support from, a number of stakeholders including the following 
(where applicable): 

• Mayoral and non-Mayoral Combined Authorities
• Local Enterprise Partnerships
• Other tiers of local government in the area
• Business Improvement Districts
• Private sector
• Community groups

Type and size of projects 

We expect bidding local authorities to put forward a single, transformative submission 
covering one high street or town centre in their area. This may comprise of more than one 
intervention, but that will need to be subject to a strong business case. For example, a 
local authority may wish to consolidate its town centre offer across a number of high 
streets to provide additional residential or commercial space. In that case we would 
consider applications which saw interventions across the network of high streets assuming 
there was a sufficiently robust strategic business case.  

26



13 

 
We would expect any identified need for investment to fall under the following themes: 

• Investment in physical infrastructure 
• Acquisition and assembly of land including making improvements to the public realm 
• Improvements to transport access, traffic flow and circulation in the area 
• Supporting change of use including (where appropriate) housing delivery and 

densification 
• Supporting adaptation of the high street in response to changing technology 

Funding will not be provided for surface-level projects that only make a difference to the 
appearance, rather than the use, of the area or those that would not have a long-term 
impact. 
  

27



14 

Assessment process 
 

The competition will take place over two phases.  

Phase 1 is this light-touch process calling for Expressions of Interest by 22 March 2019. 
We will assess the definitions of places and need in these Expressions of Interest as well 
as the level of strategic ambition before making a decision on places we will take forward. 

During Phase 2 we will provide some support to these shortlisted places to develop their 
strategic vision and full business cases which will be assessed in accordance with the HM 
Treasury Green Book, MHCLG appraisal guidance and other departmental guidance 
where necessary. Places successful in moving to Phase 2 will receive capacity funding to 
support this. Based on the strength and merits of the final business cases, we will make a 
decision on which projects will receive capital funding and any further revenue funding. 

Phase 1: shortlisting places 
Places need to complete the application form in the annex. This is based around three 
themes against which places will be selected: 

1. Defining the place 

a. The geography of the high street/town centre 

b. The centre's catchment and link to wider economic areas 

2. Setting out the challenges 

a. Clear description of the issues and challenges facing this area 

b. Why central government funding is needed to meet these challenges 

c. Evidence to support this 

3. Strategic ambition 

a. Set out a high-level vision for improving their area and how this links with 
need expressed in Section 2 

b. Cover how investment from government will support the area and help 
overcome these challenges 

c. Demonstrate engagement with and support from local stakeholders including 
other tiers of local government, if applicable, and the private sector 

d. Demonstrate how this ambition will align with other funding streams (public 
or private) 

e. Show how this will link to wider strategic plans e.g. around housing and local 
growth 

f. Detail of capacity arrangements to ensure robust governance and delivery 

28



15 

Applications will be sifted on the basis of the responses to these key themes. We will 
publish further guidance on the scoring criteria and weighting for Expressions of Interest 
before the end of January 2019. 

We will decide on the relative merits of each bid and shortlist places for the next phase of 
the competition.  

We are not asking for specific scheme proposals at this stage, as we will make a decision 
on which places to take forward based on the challenges and ambition set out in the 
application form.   

However, if as part of their strategic vision places would like to identify specific schemes 
they feel are “shovel-ready” and would be in a position to receive capital funding in the 
near future, we invite them to make this clear here and provide further supporting evidence 
if available. If this place moves forward to Phase 2 we would examine the proposed 
projects at an early stage of co-development. 

The use of qualitative and quantitative evidence from government bodies and well-
respected independent sources is encouraged. The suitability and validity of this will be 
scrutinised as part of the bid. 

Where the Fund is oversubscribed we will take into account factors such as the available 
profile of the Fund, ensuring a geographical spread of impact, and wider economic 
considerations. The Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government will make the final decision on funding.  

Phase 2: Business case development 
Shortlisted places will be invited to develop their strategic vision and business cases for 
specific projects. They will receive capacity funding at this stage to be spent on revenue 
needs and will be expected to seek additional private and local investment. They will also 
receive some support from the Department. 

Local authorities will then be asked to submit their final full business cases for specific 
projects. These business cases will then be assessed according to appraisal 
methodologies across the five cases as outlined in the HM Treasury Green Book, MHCLG 
guidance and other departmental guidance as necessary.  

More detail on appraisal and assessment at Phase 2 will be announced in early 2019. 

We expect to undertake business case development to allow those ready to move quickly 
to do so and avoid moving at the pace of the slowest. The Ministry will then take a final 
funding decision for each place who will then deliver the projects funded. 

It is expected that evaluation processes will be developed in tandem with the development 
of business cases. All funded places will be expected to complete an evaluation of 
interventions after the completion of the Fund proportionate to the level of investment 
agreed. 

Successful bids will be announced on a rolling basis. 

29



16 

Application process 

Application form 
Places will be expected to apply via the application form attached as an annex to this 
document. 

Applications to the Fund will be assessed against the criteria set out in the annex. Further 
information on the scoring criteria and their weighting will be published by the department 
before the end of January 2019. 

A panel will moderate the final score of each bid to ensure consistency. The places taken 
forward to Phase 2 will be agreed by the Secretary of State after the proposals have been 
fully scrutinised. 

All applicants should evaluate whether their project will comply with the rules on State Aid 
under European Union law. 

Submission of bids 
All bids should be submitted electronically to highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk no 
later than 23.59 on Friday 22 March 2019.  

We may wish to discuss the content of bids with local authorities to seek clarity on any 
aspects following the deadline. 

When authorities submit a bid for funding, as part of the Government’s commitment to 
greater openness in the public sector under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004, we encourage them to also publish a 
version or summary excluding any commercially sensitive information on their own 
website after submitting the final bid to the Ministry.  

As well as increasing transparency, publishing bids will also help create a network of 
places engaged in the process and support those places looking to bid for the second 
round of funding. 

Enquiries 
Enquiries about the Fund may be directed to highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk. 

Transparency and privacy 
Local authorities will be expected to spend funds in an open and transparent way. We 
would expect plans relating to the projects to be publicly available. In addition, we will 
expect details of the projects and progress to be made available to local authorities and 
MHCLG over the duration of the project including taking part in monitoring and 
evaluation.  

Any personal data provided through the application will be processed in line with data 
protection legislation. The following is to explain your rights and give you the information 
you are entitled to under the Data Protection Act 2018.   
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 

30

mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk
mailto:highstreetsfund@communities.gov.uk


17 

dataprotection@communities.gov.uk. Data protection legislation sets out when we are 
lawfully allowed to process your data. The lawful basis that applies to this processing is 
6(1)(e) of the GDPR: the processing of personal data is necessary for the performance of 
a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority.   
 
Your personal data is being collected to identify places to receive support from the Future 
High Streets Fund. We are processing your data as part of Phase 1 of the application 
phase deciding which places will move forward to Phase 2. We may also use it to contact 
you about further opportunities to apply for this project if we expand the Fund in future. 

We may share the information with external assessors as we assess the applications. 
Your personal data will only be shared with the assessor for that purpose and will only be 
retained by them for the duration of the assessment process. Your personal data will be 
held for the duration of the Fund, including monitoring and evaluation.   
 
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have rights that affect what 
happens to it. You have the right to:  

• know that we are using your personal data  
• see what data we have about you  
• ask to have your data corrected, and to ask how we check the information we hold is 

accurate  
• ask to have your data deleted  
• complain to the ICO (see below)  

  
In some circumstances you may also have the right to have all data about you deleted, or 
to object to particularly types of use of your data. We will tell you when these rights apply.  
Your personal data will not be sent overseas.  
 
We will not use your data for any automated decision making. Your personal data will be 
stored in a secure government IT system.   
 
When we ask you for information, we will keep to the law, including the Data Protection Act 
2018 and General Data Protection Regulation.  
 
If you are unhappy with the way the department has acted, you can make a complaint.  
If you are not happy with how we are using your personal data, you should first contact 
dataprotection@communities.gov.uk.   
 
If you are still not happy, or for independent advice about data protection, privacy and data 
sharing, you can contact:  
The Information Commissioner's Office:   
Wycliffe House   
Water Lane   
Wilmslow  
Cheshire SK9 5AF   
Telephone: 0303 123 1113 or 01625 545 745   
https://ico.org.uk/  

 

31

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk
mailto:dataprotection@communities.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


Community Sub-Group Report
GTDP Board Meeting Wednesday 20th March 2019

Since the previous Board Meeting on 27th November, the Sub-Group has met once on 16th
January. There will also be another meeting on the evening of 20th March. Details of both
meetings can be found by following the “agenda and papers” at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/

community-subgroup. Particular items of interest for the Board and things we need to raise
are described below.

1 Public Concerns

1.1 Train Ticketing

At the November 2017 Sub-Group meeting, an issue was raised about passengers being charged
more when buying tickets on the train compared with buying them at the station. In almost
all cases, this shouldn’t happen. The main exception is those travelling with East Midlands
Trains, who do not give railcard discounts on the train if ticketing facilities are available at the
station.

The Board wrote to East Midlands Trains about this issue in April, and got some initial positive
engagement from the company. However, it was reported by Sam Chapman-Allen at the January
2019 Sub-Group meeting that East Midlands Trains had now said they were not prepared to
examine their ticketing policies at the moment as their current franchise would be coming to an
end shortly (August 2019).

The Sub-Group agreed to ask the Board to consider raising the matter with the Secretary of
State for Transport, with a view to getting the rules changed to account for the fact that ticketing
facilities might not be readily accessible to all.

Suggested Action

• The Board agrees to write to the Secretary of State for Transport to ask that the national
rules about not needing to give railcard discounts on trains should only be applied when
there are ticketing facilities at the station that are readily accessible to those with limited
mobility from the boarding platform.

1

32

Agenda Item 7

http://www.gtdp.org.uk/community-subgroup
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/community-subgroup


1.2 GP and NHS Dentist Provision

Concern had been expressed at various Community Sub-Group meetings about the lack of
planning for expanded health-care provision for the new SUE residents. Further discussion of
this matter took place at the January 2019 Sub-Group meeting. It was agreed to ask the Board
to approach the practices in the town to get a better picture of the challenges they face.

Suggested Action

• The Board agrees to write to the GP and dental practices in the town to enquire about
their current status, including their ability to accept new patients, the level of care they
are able to provide for existing patients, and what facilities and resources they might need
to improve services.

1.3 Bus Routes for the Kingsfleet Phase 1

A member of the public raised a query about Bus provision for the new houses in the SUE at
Sub-Group’s May 2018 meeting, and this came up again as a correction to the draft minutes
at the September 2018 meeting. As result I looked into the planning policies and provisions
currently being made. It appears that Breckland’s own planning policy (TAAP TH26) requires
bus services to operate from the first day of occupation of the SUE, but Breckland has not
enforced this policy on the developer. There is also a question over whether the intended use
of the Joe Blunt’s Lane underpass for buses is consistent with another planning policy (TAAP
TH11).

I asked Breckland’s planning department to confirm and explain these apparent discrepancies
(on 10th October and 5th November 2018), but received no response. I raised the issue at
the GTDP Board Meeting on 27th November 2018, where Rob Walker (Breckland Executive
Director of Place) promised to take up the matter. I asked for an update from Sam Chapman-
Allen and Rob Walker before our January 2019 meeting, but none was forthcoming. However,
Sam Chapman-Allen was present at that meeting and said that because of potential legal issues,
the Council was still considering its response. At time of writing I have still not received a
response to the queries.

1.4 Pedestrian Access to and from Kingsfleet Phase 1A

At the November 2018 Sub-Group meeting, a member of the public raised the issue that there
appeared to be no hard-surfaced footpaths being provided to link the first phase of new houses
in the Kingsfleet development to the rest of the town. This will cause difficulties for those with
mobility problems. I raised the matter at the November 2018 Board meeting, and was told that
officers were already aware of the issue and were looking in to what could be done. As above,
no update was forthcoming for the January 2019 meeting, and I have still not had a response
on this matter.

2 Community Sub-Group Independent Member Recruitment

Two new independent members were finally selected following the recruitment process that
started last summer. I understand that there were more applicants, but the others withdrew
from the process. Despite the date of our 16th January Sub-Group meeting being know well

2

33



in advance, the two selected candidates for the Community Sub-Group Independent Member
positions were only informed of their success a shortly before the start of the meeting, which
did not give them enough time to prepare and take up their positions. It was therefore agreed
to postpone the planned election of a new Chair until the following meeting in March.

It was also agreed at the 16th January Sub-Group meeting that we would re-advertise for
the remaining two Independent Member vacancies, with the aim of having a full compliment
of members for the March Sub-Group meeting. All the independent members would then be
involved in the election of the new Chair at that meeting.

Sam Chapman-Allen (who was present at the meeting) was happy with this plan, and said he
would enquire about an advert in the February edition of About Thetford. I heard nothing
further, and so when no such advert appeared, I sent a follow-up email to Sam asking what
was going on with the recruitment, and what deadline we should advertise when promoting the
positions. I received no response. As the Board has previously indicated that it wished to be
in control of the Community Sub-Group recruitment process, I therefore felt it inappropriate to
proceed unilaterally with the agreed recruitment.

Suggested Action

• The Board agrees a plan to fill the two remaining independent member vacancies on the
Community Sub-Group at the earliest opportunity.

3 Cycling and Walking Report

When the Board considered the Sub-Group’s Cycling and Walking report at its meeting in June
2018, it asked Norfolk County Council officers to meet with me to discuss the proposals. Despite
my efforts to chase this up with the Board chair and officers, I have received no information
about such a meeting.

In the absence of such a meeting being arranged, I feel that the Board should now vote on the
five recommendations contained within the report without further delay. The full report can be
found online at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/cycling-walking.

Suggested Action

• The Board takes a formal vote on each of the five recommendations contained in the
Community Sub-Group’s Cycling and Walking Report, with the option to amend them
first if deemed appropriate.

4 Communication and Public Engagement

Communication from the Board and engagement with the public continues to be a problem. For
example, I have seen no publicity for the upcoming Board Meeting, the GTDP Website is very
out of date in places (see annex), and the report that Robert Walker promised on communication
over a year ago has still yet to materialise.

There is also a problem that the public are not always seeing timely updates and/or responses
to the issues that have been raised through the Community Sub-Group. See, for example, the

3

34

http://www.gtdp.org.uk/cycling-walking


time-scales and lack of responses on some of the issues outlined in the section above. It makes
life much more difficult for the Sub-Group Chair to have to keep chasing things, not knowing
whether updates will be forthcoming, and not knowing when information might be available to
prepare reports for the meetings. It also damages public relations when the Sub-Group Chair
has to continually report that updates had been requested but not had been received.

We have also had a lack of substantive items to discuss at recent Sub-Group meetings and to
use to help generate interest in the meetings. Various consultations and initiatives have been
occurring, whose promoters could have involved the Community Sub-Group but did not do so. I
have tried to flag things up where I am aware of them, but it would be easier for the Sub-Group
chair if partners were more proactive.

Possible actions suggested at the most recent Sub-Group meeting included: more engagement
with the Resident’s Associations, a possible name change for the Board and Sub-Group to make
it more accessible to the public, and a meeting between the Sub-Group, Board and Officer Group
to discuss improvements and coordinate a forward plan.

Possible Actions

• At its next meeting the Board has a main agenda item on communication and public
engagement.

• A member of the GTDP Board is assigned the task of monitoring the website to ensure it
is kept up to date.

• Each partner organisation appoints a named person to ensure that details any relevant
news items and consultations are included on the GTDP website.

• Partners agree to work with the Community Sub-Group on any local public engagement
and consultation tasks they require.

• The Board re-considers whether its name and that of the Community Sub-Group best
reflects its work and purpose in the eyes of the public.

• A meeting is arranged between Board members and the two Sub-Groups to discuss im-
provements and coordinate a forward planning.

5 Advance Notice and Timing of Board Meetings

When the Board was first set up, meeting dates were set and advertised in advance for a
whole year at a time. This setup allowed more advanced publicity, members to plan for their
attendance, and the Community Sub-Group to coordinate its meetings around those of the
Board. This advanced planning has not happened more recently, which has led to problems
with availability and poor timing of Sub-Group meetings relative to the Board meetings. (The
previous Board meeting only took place only a week after a Sub-Group meeting. This Board
meeting is taking place on the same day as a Sub-Group meeting.)

In addition, it has been noted that holding Board Meetings during working hours limits the
involvement of a large number of members of the public. The view at the Sub-Group meeting
was the evening meetings would be preferable for public engagement, but I realise that may not
suit a number of Board members. Perhaps as a compromise the two Board meetings each year
that incorporate a Public Forum should be held outside normal working hours.

4

35



Suggested Actions

• The Officer Group coordinates a plan of meeting dates for the next year, to be agreed at
the next Board meeting.

• To encourage public engagement and attendance at Board meetings, the two meetings a
year that incorporate a Public Forum should be held outside normal working hours.

Robert Whittaker
GTDP Community Sub-Group Chair
11-Mar-2019

Annex — GTDP Website Issues

A quick look at various pages of the GTDP website at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/ reveals a lot
of places where the content needs updating.

• The last Board meeting listed at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/board is 11 June 2018.

• The Terms of Reference at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/board is not the most recently
agreed version.

• The list of members of the Community Sub-Group at
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/community-subgroup-members needs updating following the
Independent Member recruitment process.

• The news page at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/news has no new items since May 2018.

• The “Have Your Say” page at http://www.gtdp.org.uk/get-involved still includes de-
tails of the Community Sub-Group recruitment from last summer, and still lists the Com-
munity Governance Review Consultation and SUE Phase 1a Planning Application as open
consultations, with nothing more recent included.

• All three of the regeneration pages linked from http://www.gtdp.org.uk/regeneration

need updating with details of more recent developments.

5

36

http://www.gtdp.org.uk/
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/board
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/board
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/community-subgroup-members
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/news
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/get-involved
http://www.gtdp.org.uk/regeneration


 
 

Who does what?
Your guide to local government

Community 
Centres Public ClocksAllotmentsPlay Areas

Education Transport
Strategic 
Planning

Fire & Public  
Safety

Cemeteries

Consultation on 
Neighbourhood 

Planning

County Councils
These are responsible for services across  

the whole of a county, including:

Licensing
Wellbeing  
& Leisure

Social Care

Trading 
Standards

Libraries

Birth, Marriage 
and Death 
Registration

Waste 
Management

Planning 
Applications

Benefits Housing

Rubbish and 
Recycling 
collections

Council Tax 
collections

Organising 
Polling Stations 
during Elections

Economic 
Development

Environmental 
Health

Town & Parish Councils
These manage a number of  
local issues, like providing:

District 
Councils
These provide  

services to their 
individual district. 

They’re usually 
responsible for  

services such as:

37

Agenda Item 9


	Agenda
	2 Minutes and matters arising from the Board meeting held on 27 November 2018
	Minutes
	45 Summary of Agreed Actions and Report Highlights

	3 Network Improvement Strategy
	Summary
	Officer Contact
	Name 
	Telephone Number
	Email address


	4 Thetford Railway Station Car Parking
	5 Future High Street Funds
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Background: structural changes on high streets
	Scope of the fund
	Objectives
	How the Fund will work
	Funding decisions

	Eligibility
	Eligible places
	Local and stakeholder support
	Type and size of projects
	Phase 1: shortlisting places
	Phase 2: Business case development

	Application process
	Application form
	Submission of bids
	Enquiries
	Transparency and privacy


	7 Community Sub-Group Report
	Public Concerns
	Train Ticketing
	GP and NHS Dentist Provision
	Bus Routes for the Kingsfleet Phase 1
	Pedestrian Access to and from Kingsfleet Phase 1A

	Community Sub-Group Independent Member Recruitment
	Cycling and Walking Report
	Communication and Public Engagement
	Advance Notice and Timing of Board Meetings

	9 Local Authority Responsibilities

